



Appleby Commercial 05\_2025

PROPERTY DETAILS		
ADDRESS OF PROPERTY TO LEASE		
DETAILED INTENDED USE OF PREMISES		
REGISTERED BUSINESS/COMPANY/TRADING NA	ME	
REGISTERED OFFICE ADDRESS		
ABN NUMBER	_ ACN	TFN
EMAIL ADDRESS		YEARS TRADING
CURRENT BUSINESS ADDRESS		TERM
CURRENT AGENT/OWNER NAME		
ADDRESS		
CONTACT NUMBERS		
REASON FOR LEAVING PREVIOUS PROPERTY _		
PREVIOUS TRADING EXPERIENCE/D	ETAILS	
BUSINESS NAME		PHONE NUMBER
ADDRESS		





Appleby Commercial 05\_2025

PERSONAL / ALL DIRECTORS DETAILS (IF COMPANY) - PERSON 1		
FULL NAME		
RESIDENTIAL ADDRESS		
EMAIL ADDRESS	DATE OF BIRTH	
PHONE NUMBER	MOBILE NUMBER	
CURRENT AGENT (OR OWNER) OR MORTGAGE DETAILS		
PHONE NUMBER	EMAIL ADDRESS	
EST. MARKET VALUE \$	MONEY OWED \$	
PERSONAL / ALL DIRECTORS DETAILS (IF COM	PANY) - PERSON 2	
FULL NAME		
EMAIL ADDRESS	DATE OF BIRTH	
PHONE NUMBER	MOBILE NUMBER	
CURRENT AGENT (OR OWNER) OR MORTGAGE DETAILS		
PHONE NUMBER	EMAIL ADDRESS	
EST MARKET VALUE \$	MONEY OWED \$	





Appleby Commercial 05\_2025

STATEMENT OF F	INANCIAL PO	SITION		
STATEMENT OF FINANC	IAL POSITION AS	AT		
BANK OF APPLICANT				
ACCOUNT IN NAME OF				
BRANCH LOCATION				
TYPE OF ACCOUNT	SAVING	CHEQUE	ВОТН	OTHER
LIABILITIES				
OVERDRAFT \$		CREDITORS AND B	ILLS PAYABLE \$	
MORTGAGE LOANS - AS	SET CHARGES O	WING TO:		
1				
2				
3				
OTHER LIABILITIES (DET	AILS)			
TOTAL LIABILITIES \$				
ASSETS				
ASSETS				
BANK/TRADING A/C \$ _		SAVINGS ACCC	OUNT \$	BUILDING SOCIETY \$
HOUSE/PROPERTY ADD	RESS			
RENTED	OWNED			
OTHER PROPERTY (INCO	OME IF FROM REI	NT)		
FURNITURE & HOUSEHO	OLD EFFECTS \$ _		_ OTHER ASSI	ETS\$
INVESTMENTS (DETAILS	)			
TOTAL ASSETS \$		SURP	LUS OF ASSETS	OVER LIABILITIES \$
<b>DECLARATION:</b> I/WE_				AND ACCURATE IN EVERY RESPECT.
HEREE	DI DECLARE I HE	ADOVE INFORMATI	ON IO DE IKUE,	AND ACCURATE IN EVERT RESPECT.
SIGNED				DΔTF





Appleby Commercial 05\_2025

TRADE BUSINESS REFERENCES (NOT PERSONAL)			
PHONE			
LEASE DETAILS			
DATE YOU WISH LEASE TO COMMENCE TERM OF LEASE  NET RENTAL PER ANNUM \$  MAILING ADDRESS FOR ALL CORRESPONDENCE  CONTACT PERSON FOR RENT AND OUTGOINGS PAYMENTS FOR THE TERM OF THE LEASE:			
NAME PHONE			
ESSENTIAL SERVICES CONNECTION POWERED BY BEEVO  Take the hassle out of connecting utilities like power, internet, waste and phone lines for your new commercial property.			
Save Time & Money with Beevo			
Beevo is a one-stop shop for all of your business services			

#### THIS IS A FREE SERVICE, PLEASE INDICATE YOUR PREFERENCE BELOW.

YES PLEASE HAVE BEEVO CONTACT ME
A REPRESENTATIVE WILL BE IN CONTACT WITH YOU WITHIN 24 HOURS TO DISCUSS YOUR REQUIREMENTS

NO I WILL MAKE MY OWN ARRANGEMENTS





Appleby Commercial 05\_2025

#### PLEASE ATTACH COPIES OF THE FOLLOWING:

PHOTOCOPY OF CURRENT DRIVERS LICENSE OF ALL APPLICANTS

PHOTOCOPY OF CURRENT COUNCIL RATES NOTICE (IF YOU OWN YOUR PRINCIPLE PLACE OF RESIDENCE)

PHOTOCOPY OF CURRENT BUSINESS TRADING OR TAX RETURN FINANCIAL DETAILS

#### **DECLARATION**

THE APPLICANT WARRANTS THAT THEY HAVE THOROUGHLY INSPECTED THE PREMISES THEY ARE APPLYING FOR AND AGREE TO LEASE THE PREMISES IN THE CONDITIONS AS INSPECTED.

BY SIGNING THIS APPLICATION, THE TENANT AGREES THAT THEY HAVE MADE THEIR OWN INVESTIGATIONS INTO THE SUITABILITY OF THE PREMISES AND CONFIRM THAT IT IS SUITABLE FOR THEIR REQUIREMENTS.

THE TENANT WILL NOT MAKE ANY DEMANDS ON THE LANDLORD FOR REPAIRS, MODIFICATIONS OR CHANGES TO THE PREMISES.

I/WE DECLARE THE DETAILS ON THIS APPLICATION ARE TRUE AND I/WE CONSENT TO AN INDEPENDENT REFERENCE AND TENANCY CHECK WILL BE OBTAINED PRIOR TO FINAL APPROVAL. I ACKNOWLEDGE THAT THIS PROPERTY IS OFFERED SUBJECT TO THE OWNERS APPROVAL AND VACANT POSSESSION AND NO ACTION SHALL BE TAKEN BY THE APPLICANT AGAINST EITHER THE LANDLORD OR AGENT SHOULD ANY CIRCUMSTANCES ARISE WHEREBY THE PROPERTY IS NOT AVAILABLE FOR OCCUPATION ON THE DUE DATE.

SIGNED	DATE	
OFFICE USE ONLY: DOES THE LANDLORD REQUIRE A COMPANY/FINANCIAL SEARCH?	YES	NO

#### **PRIVACY ACT**

THE PERSONAL INFORMATION THE PROSPECTIVE TENANT PROVIDES IN THIS APPLICATION OR THAT WHICH IS COLLECTED FROM OTHER SOURCES IS NECESSARY FOR THE AGENT TO VERIFY THE APPLICANTS IDENTITY AND TO PROCESS AND EVALUATE THE APPLICATION. THE PERSONAL INFORMATION COLLECTED ABOUT THE APPLICANT MAY BE DISCLOSED FOR THE PURPOSE FOR WHICH IT WAS COLLECTED, TO OTHER PARTIES, INCLUDING THE LANDLORD, REFEREES, FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS, OTHER AGENTS, THIRD PARTY OPERATORS OF TENANCY REFERENCE DATABASES AND OTHER THIRD PARTIES AS REQUIRED BY LAW. INFORMATION ALREADY HELD ON TENANCY REFERENCE DATABASES MAY ALSO BE DISCLOSED TO THE AGENT AND/OR LANDLORD. THE AGENT MAY ALSO DISCLOSE INFORMATION TO OTHER PARTIES ON THE INTERNET.

THE AGENT WILL ONLY DISCLOSE INFORMATION IN THIS WAY TO OTHER PARTIES TO ACHIEVE THE PURPOSES SPECIFIED ABOVE OR AS OTHERWISE ALLOWED UNDER THE PRIVACY ACT 1988.

IF THE APPLICANT WOULD LIKE TO ACCESS HIS/HER PERSONAL INFORMATION HELD BY THE AGENT, THEY CAN DO SO BY CONTACTING THE AGENT AT THE ADDRESS AND CONTACT NUMBERS CONTAINED IN THE APPLICATION. THE APPLICANT CAN ALSO CORRECT THIS INFORMATION IF IT IS INACCURATE, INCOMPLETE OR OUT OF DATE.

CICNED	DATE

IF THE INFORMATION IS NOT PROVIDED. THE AGENT MAY NOT BE ABLE TO PROCESS THE APPLICATION.

# Commercial Lease®



The Real Estate Institute of Victoria Ltd | ACN 004 210 897 | www.reiv.com.au |

# The Real Estate Institute of Victoria Ltd COPYRIGHT COMMERCIAL LEASE®

Landlord(s):		
Tenant(s):		

Premises:

Tenant's covenants:

# Commercial Lease®



#### **ABOUT THIS LEASE**

This is a standard form document. It can be used in the leasing of retail, commercial or industrial premises in Victoria, whether or not retail lease laws apply. It may need to be altered or added to or both to properly record a lease, as negotiated. **Alterations, additions or both should be recorded in the REIV Copyright Special Conditions Schedule (Code 144A) and not by making changes or additions to the Lease itself.** Depending on circumstances, it may be prudent to obtain legal advice when drawing up this Lease. The REIV Copyright Commercial Lease Schedule (Code 144) ("Schedule") must be completed in conjunction with this Lease.

#### Landlord advice

The landlord confirms this lease is in the copyright format published by The Real Estate Institute of Victoria Ltd as at the date/version printed on the front page, unless there are alterations or additions or both which appear in the Special Conditions Schedule. The tenant should check the Special Conditions Schedule, before signing this lease.

#### **Table of Contents**

Clause	Covenant	Page
1	Rent	3
2	Outgoings	3
3	Building operating expenses	4
4	Insurances	4
5	Maintenance and repairs	5
6	Alterations and additions	6
7	Notices of accidents to premises/building	6
8	Inspecting the premises	7
9	Tenant to clean, repair and make good damage	7
10	Returning the premises to the landlord	7
11	Signs	7
12	Use of the premises	8
13	Occupational Health and Safety Act 2004	8
14	Assignment and sub-letting	9
15	Reletting, sale and other rights of entry	10
16	Security deposit	10
17	Interest	11
18	Landlord's costs and expenses / stamp duty	11
Landlord	's covenants:	
19	Quiet enjoyment	11
20	Access to premises	11
21	Insurance	11
Mutual co	ovenants:	
22	Over-holding	12
23	Further term	12
24	Review of the rent to market	13
25	CPI adjustment of the rent	14
26	Fixed rent increases	14
27	Damage to and destruction of the premises	14
28	Cessation of building services	15
29	Personal Property Security Act 2009	15
30	Indemnity by the tenant	15
31	Notices	16
32	Electronic Transactions (Victoria) Act 2000	16
33	Rules	16
34	Defaults by the tenant	17
35	Repudiation by the tenant	17
36	Disputes	17
37	Goods and Services Tax	18
38	Delivery of Guarantee and Idemnity	18
39	Definitions and interpretation	18

# Commercial Lease®



This lease is made between the landlord and the tenant named in the Schedule for the premises for the term beginning on the commencement date as specified in the Schedule.

This lease comprises -

- the respective covenants of the landlord and the tenant; and
- · the Schedule; and
- the Special Conditions, if any, in the Special Conditions Schedule.

If the Act applies, this lease has effect subject to it.

The tenant covenants and agrees with the landlord as follows -

#### 1. Rent

- 1.1 To pay the rent in advance during the term and any over-holding by equal, consecutive calendar monthly instalments starting on the rental commencement date specified in the Schedule and then on the first day of each month, unless otherwise agreed. The first and the final payments of the rent will be apportioned, if necessary.
- 1.2 Each instalment of rent will be paid -
  - (a) without demand, deduction, or set-off (whether legal or equitable); and
  - (b) in the manner required by the landlord from time to time.

#### 2. Outgoings

- 2.1 During the term and any over-holding to pay on or before the due date for payment, or to repay to the landlord within 14 days of demand, the following outgoings in connection with the premises -
  - (a) municipal, water, drainage, and sewerage rates, charges, levies and special rates or levies;
  - (b) land tax calculated on the basis the premise or the building of which the premises forms a part is the only land owned by the landlord (single holding);
  - (c) congestion and parking levies;
  - (d) gas, electricity, telephone, communications, sewage or garbage/waste disposal, and water consumption charges;
  - (e) owners corporation fees, special fees and charges;
  - (f) the expense of cleaning, inspecting, maintaining, repairing and/or servicing the premises and the landlord's fixtures, fittings, plant or equipment in or serving the premises;
  - (g) fire service levies;
  - (h) insurance premiums and other charges for insurances effected by the landlord in relation to the premises including (but not limited to) fire insurance on all improvements on a replacement and reinstatement basis and such other risks as the landlord may require from time to time and whether or not the risk is one in respect of which insurance is commonly obtainable at the commencement of this lease. The insurances may include plant and equipment breakdown insurance, public liability insurance for the amount of cover specified in the Schedule (\$20,000,000.00 if not amount specified), loss of rent and consequential loss insurance and any other insurance effected by the landlord in relation to any risk relating to the landlord's ownership or interest in the premises. The landlord may insure for such amounts and with such extensions and exclusions as the landlord thinks fit, but if the Act applies the landlord is not entitled to recover any premiums or other charges which the landlord may be prohibited from claiming from the tenant under the Act;
  - (i) the expense of the attendance of the fire brigade in response to a fire alarm generated from or in connection with the premises;
  - (j) the expense of inspecting, auditing, servicing, repairing, maintaining, monitoring, and testing all essential safety measures at or provided in relation to or in connection with the premises, provided the payment or repayment is not contrary to law; and



- (k) any other outgoings of whatever nature which are now or may during the term or any period of overholding be charged to or payable by the landlord in respect of or in connection with the premises unless expressly excluded in the Schedule.
- 2.2 If an outgoing relates to a period outside the term or a period of over-holding it will be apportioned accordingly.
- 2.3 If an outgoing is not separately assessed or charged in relation to the premises, to pay or reimburse a portion calculated on the proportion which the lettable area of the premises bears to the lettable area of the whole of the land or the building to which the outgoing relates, unless some other manner of apportionment is set out in the Schedule.
- 2.4 If the Act applies, to pay that proportion of the outgoings -
  - (a) that benefit all premises in the building: the proportion that the lettable area of the premises bears to the lettable area of the building, as stated in the Schedule;
  - (b) that benefit the premises and only some of the other premises in the building: the proportion that the lettable area of the premises bears to the lettable area of all premises that together share the benefit of the outgoing;
  - (c) that benefit only the premises: 100%.

#### 3. Building operating expenses

- 3.1 During the term and any over-holding to pay, or to repay the landlord within 14 days of demand, a proportionate share of all expenses paid or incurred by the landlord in operating, managing, equipping, lighting, repairing, and maintaining the building including (without limitation) lavatories, sanitary services, cleaning, fire protection, essential safety measures, insurance premiums in respect of liability and other risks which the landlord reasonably requires.
- 3.2 The tenant's proportion of the expenses will be determined in the same manner as that referred to in clause 2.4 unless -
  - (a) some other way of apportioning the expenses is described in the Schedule; or
  - (b) the Act applies to an expense, in which case the tenant's proportion must exclude an expense that the landlord is not permitted to recover from the tenant; or
  - (c) legislation (by way of example, but not limited to, the Building Act 1993) applies to an expense, in which case the tenant's proportion must exclude the proportion, if any, of the expense that the legislation prohibits the landlord recovering from the tenant.

#### 4. Insurances

- 4.1 To effect and keep current during occupation of the tenant a public liability policy in the name of the tenant for an amount of not less than \$20 million or such higher amount as the landlord may reasonably require from time to time. The policy must be placed with an insurer approved by the landlord, approval not to be unreasonably withheld. The tenant must produce evidence of the currency of the insurance, within seven days of a request to do so
- 4.2 Not to do, allow, or acquiesce in anything being done at the premises or the building which may result in a policy of insurance relating to the premises becoming void or voidable or which may allow an insurer to decline a claim under a condition or exclusion contained in the policy or policies or otherwise or which may result in the premium being increased. If a premium is increased, the tenant must promptly pay or reimburse the increase (Note: this obligation applies even if the tenant pays rent on a gross lease basis).
- 4.3 To pay or reimburse the landlord for any excesses on insurance claims, or to pay the expense of works or repairs where the expense of the works or repairs would be less than the excess payable on an insurance claim, if an insurance claim had been made.
- 4.4 To effect and keep current during the tenant's occupation of the premises an insurance policy covering the tenant's and others goods at the premises for their current reinstatement or replacement cost against damage or destruction by fire, water, theft, malicious and accidental damage, storm, lightening and tempest, earthquake, explosion, impact by vehicles and aircraft and articles dropped from aircraft.



#### 5. Maintenance and repairs

- 5.1 During the term and any period of over-holding to maintain and keep in the state of repair existing on the commencement date of the term -
  - (a) the exterior (including but not limited to fences, landscaped areas, vehicle parking areas, pathways, driveways and hard-stand areas) and the interior of the premises and the landlord's fixtures and fittings at the premises. The landlord's fixtures and fittings installed at the premises on the commencement date of the initial term are set out in the Schedule; and
  - (b) any roller shutter doors and electronically operated gates comprised in the landlord's fixtures and fittings by engaging the services of an appropriate contractor approved by the landlord and to produce evidence of the engagement and maintenance to the landlord or the managing agent on request fair wear and tear and damage to the premises or the landlord's fixture and fittings by fire or other cause not attributable to the default or negligence of the tenant or the negligence of the tenant's licensees or invitees excepted.
  - (c) For the avoidance of doubt, "commencement date of the term" means the commencement date of the initial term, if the lease is renewed for a further term or terms.
- 5.2 If during the term or a period of over-holding alterations or additions are made to the premises or to the landlord's fixtures and fittings installed at the premises, to maintain them in the condition they were in when made, subject to the exceptions to clause 5.1.
- 5.3 To replace with a similar article of at least equal value any landlord's fixture or fitting destroyed, lost, or so badly damaged that it cannot be satisfactorily restored to its former condition, subject to the exceptions to clause 5.1.
- 5.4 Damage to or deterioration in the condition of the premises or the landlord's fixtures and fittings or both will not be attributable to fair wear and tear if it is wholly or partly brought about because the tenant has not or has inadequately carried out maintenance or repairs or has permitted, allowed or acquiesced in -
  - (a) structural loadings being exceeded;
  - (b) vehicles with inappropriate tyres or tracks or of excessive weight or size being used at or allowed on the premises;
  - (c) the fixtures and fittings of the landlord or the tenant being used in a manner inconsistent with their purpose;
  - (d) inadequate rubbish or waste removal, cleaning, gardening, lawn mowing or pest control.
- 5.5 During the term and any period of over-holding to -
  - (a) thoroughly cleanse the inside and outside of the external and internal windows of the premises at least once in every three months (calculated beginning on the commencement date of the term) and also when otherwise reasonably required from time to time by the landlord or managing agent;
  - **(b)** keep all drains waste pipes, gutters, spouting, rain-heads, and downpipes which exclusively serve the premises clean and free of debris;
  - (c) only remove the landlord's fixtures and fittings from the premises if it is necessary to do so to have them repaired or replaced, and then only if the landlord or managing agent has first given written consent;
  - (d) only engage a person to maintain, alter, repair, install or make alterations or additions to the premises or to carry out repairs to or removal of the landlord's fixtures and fittings if the landlord or the managing agent has first given written approval, which will not be unreasonably withheld;
  - (e) maintain in working order and promptly unblock or repair or both the sewers, drains, wash basins, sinks, showers, lavatories, sanitary apparatus, washing facilities and mechanical installations in or serving the premises. Workmanship and materials to be to the reasonable satisfaction of the landlord or the managing agent. The tenant acknowledges having inspected these items on or before the commencement date and on inspection they were found to be unblocked and undamaged;
  - (f) promptly replace broken or damaged glass, including float or plate glass, of the external and internal windows and other broken or damaged glass with glass conforming to the then applicable Australian Standard, whether or not the tenant is responsible for the breakage or damage and notwithstanding the exception to clause 5.1. Materials and workmanship to be to the reasonable satisfaction of the landlord or the managing agent;



- (g) promptly repair or replace window or door fittings (including but not limited to frames, handles, fastenings and locks), light fittings, light globes, fluorescent tubes and starters, keys, key cards, and remote controls that are broken, become defective, or are mislaid, notwithstanding the exception to clause 5.1. Replacement parts, materials and workmanship are to be to the reasonable satisfaction of the landlord or the managing agent;
- (h) promptly remove graffiti from the premises, with the exception of that existing at the commencement of the initial term:
- (i) keep the premises free of pests and vermin by engaging qualified contractors approved by the landlord or the managing agent, approval not to be unreasonably withheld;
- (j) repaint or refinish all painted or finished surfaces in a workmanlike manner with as good quality materials as at the commencement date of this lease at least once every 5 years during the term and any further term viewed as one continuous period or such other period or interval agreed between the landlord and tenant.

#### 6. Alterations and additions

- 6.1 Before -
  - (a) making structural alterations or additions to the premises; or
  - (b) removing or relocating existing partitions, fixtures or fittings from or within the premises; or
  - (c) installing partitions or other fixtures or fittings in the premises; or
  - (d) decorating or redecorating the premises;

the tenant must obtain the written consent of the landlord or the managing agent.

- 6.2 Subject to clause 6.3, when giving consent the landlord or the managing agent may impose reasonable conditions. Reasonable conditions include (but are not limited to) provision of full-size approved plans and other working drawings, detailed specifications, complete and legible copies of permits, approvals and/or certificates, engineer reports, insurance, details of materials, and contractors being approved as required by clause 5.5(d).
- 6.3 The landlord or the managing agent may refuse consent if the giving of it will result in the landlord having to undertake works to upgrade the premises or the building in which the premises are located to meet then current requirements of building laws.
- 6.4 Without limiting clause 6.2, in the event the landlord grants consent under this clause 6 and the tenant's works involve any alteration and/or addition to any electrical infrastructure of or to the premises or building, the tenant must, at the completion of such works, provide the landlord or the managing agent with a certificate of electrical safety in accordance with the Electricity Safety Act 1998 and its regulations, in addition to copies of all permits, certificates, approvals and as-built plans in relation to the completed works.

#### 7. Notice of accidents to premises/building

- 7.1 To promptly give written notice to the landlord or to the managing agent on becoming aware of an accident to or a defect in -
  - (a) the premises; or
  - (b) the building, if affecting access to the premises; or if affecting -
    - (i) water; or
    - (ii) sewerage; or
    - (iii) gas; or
    - (iv) electrical; or
    - (v) essential safety fixtures and fittings connected to or serving the premises.

# Commercial Lease®



#### 8. Inspecting the premises

- **8.1** The landlord, the managing agent or both may enter and inspect the premises on giving 24 hours prior written notice and at any time without notice, if there is an emergency.
- 8.2 On inspecting the premises the landlord, the managing agent or both will -
  - (a) cause as little inconvenience as possible in the circumstances to the tenant; and may
  - (b) bring with them any person, equipment and materials considered appropriate in the circumstances.

#### 9. Tenant to clean, repair and make good damage

- **9.1** To keep the premises in a thoroughly clean and tidy condition.
- **9.2** To store rubbish, garbage, and trade waste on the premises in secure containers and have it regularly removed at appropriate intervals.
- 9.3 To repair and make good to the reasonable satisfaction of the landlord or the managing agent any unauthorised alterations or additions or damage to the premises for which the tenant is responsible under the terms of this lease, within 14 days (or a shorter period if reasonable in the circumstances) after having been given written notice stating the damage.
- **9.4** The landlord or the managing agent or others on their behalf may enter the premises bringing equipment and materials and repair and make good the unauthorised alterations or additions or damage, if the tenant does not do so within the time stated in the written notice.
- 9.5 To pay, or repay on demand, to the landlord or the managing agent all reasonable amounts spent in connection with repairing and making good the unauthorised alterations or additions or the damage for which the tenant is responsible including (but not limited to) labour, equipment, materials, approvals, permits, certificates, professional services, bank or financiers' charges and interest.

#### 10. Returning the premises to the landlord

- **10.1** When the term or any over-holding comes to an end (whether by the passing of time or otherwise), to return the premises to the landlord in the required condition and at the time of doing so will have -
  - (a) removed the tenant's fixtures and fittings and goods including signage and advertising;
  - (b) made good any damage to the premises and/or the building resulting from or arising in connection with the installation or removal of the tenant's fixtures and fittings and goods; and
  - (c) reinstated the premises to the condition that existed when the first term of the lease commenced, if there has been a previous term or previous terms;
  - (d) cleaned and tidied the premises and the landlord's fixtures and fittings; and
  - (e) repainted or refinished all painted or finished surfaces in a workmanlike manner to a condition consistent with the surfaces at the commencement date of this lease.
- **10.2** If the tenant does not comply with clause 10.1(a) the landlord or the managing agent may dispose of the tenant's fixtures and fittings and goods in the manner permitted by the Australian Consumer Law and Fair Trading Act 2012 for the disposal of uncollected goods.
- **10.3** For the avoidance of doubt, "in the required condition" means in a condition consistent with the tenant's due performance of the obligations in clauses 5 and 9 and 11.3.

#### 11. Signs

- 11.1 Before placing a sign on the premises to -
  - (a) obtain the written consent of the landlord or the managing agent, which may be subject to reasonable conditions; and
  - (b) obtain any permit(s) required and keep them current; and
  - (c) promptly provide a complete, legible copy of any permit(s) to the landlord or the managing agent.

# Commercial Lease®



- 11.2 A sign will comply with the law and be -
  - (a) displayed as required by the consent and permit(s);
  - (b) securely fastened;
  - (c) maintained in good condition; and
  - (d) removed when the lease ends.
- **11.3** On removing a sign, to make good damage to the premises or the building caused in connection with its installation, use or removal.

#### 12. Use of the premises

- **12.1** If an approval or a consent or a permit or any or all of them is necessary to use the premises for the permitted use,
  - (a) obtain it; and
  - (b) comply with it; and
  - (c) keep it current; and
  - (d) promptly give a complete, legible copy of it and any renewal of it to the landlord or the managing agent.
- 12.2 To use the premises for the permitted use specified in the Schedule and no other.
- 12.3 To carry on the permitted use at the premises during the usual business hours for the permitted use.
- **12.4** Not to discontinue the permitted use either temporarily or permanently, without the prior written consent of the landlord or the managing agent.
- **12.5** To comply with laws relating to the premises or the permitted use. But structural alterations or additions do not have to be made, unless necessary in connection with the permitted use.
- 12.6 In using the premises not to do, allow, or acquiesce in anything that may -
  - (a) be illegal; or
  - (b) create noise levels above those acceptable from time to time for the permitted use and in any event not use radio, television or other media at a volume audible outside the premises; or
  - (c) create a danger or health risk to those on the premises or to the public; or
  - (d) create a nuisance or disturb an owner or occupier of adjacent premises or nearby property; or
  - (e) result in structural loadings being exceeded; or
  - (f) adversely affect the landlord's insurance resulting in -
    - (i) a policy becoming void or voidable; or
    - (ii) a premium or deductible being increased; or
    - (iii) a claim being rejected.
- **12.7** Not to permit, allow, or acquiesce in an animal, fish, bird, or reptile being on the premises.
- **12.8** Not to conduct, allow or acquiesce in an auction at or from the premises, without the prior written consent of the landlord or the managing agent.
- **12.9** Not to hold, allow or acquiesce in the holding of a public meeting at, in or from the premises, without the prior written consent of the landlord or the managing agent.

#### 13. Occupational Health and Safety Act 2004 (OHSA)

**13.1** The tenant acknowledges and agrees it has management and control of the premises for the purposes of the OHSA.



- 13.2 To observe and comply with the requirements imposed on the tenant by the OHSA. In particular and without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the tenant will maintain free of obstruction all means of entry and exit at, and so far as is reasonably possible in the immediate vicinity of, the premises.
- 13.3 To give written notice to the landlord or to the managing agent as soon as possible on becoming aware of an actual or a potential issue at, or in the vicinity of, the premises affecting occupational health and safety.
- 13.4 To hold the landlord and the managing agent indemnified against all costs, expenses, claims, demands, actions, judgements, or orders incurred by or made against the landlord or the managing agent in connection with or in relation to the tenant's failure to observe and comply with the requirements imposed on it by the OHSA and regulations and by this clause.
- **13.5** Without limiting clause 13.4, if the tenant fails to observe and comply with any requirements imposed on the tenant by the OHSA and regulations, the landlord may, but is not under any obligation to, remedy any failures and recover all associated costs from the tenant.

#### 14. Assignment and sub-letting

- **14.1** Section 144 of the Property Law Act 1958 does not apply to this lease.
- 14.2 Not to -
  - (a) assign; or
  - (b) sub-let; or
  - (c) licence; or
  - (d) part with occupation of

the premises or the tenant's legal or equitable interest in the premises unless the landlord or the managing agent has in each instance given prior written approval.

- 14.3 Subject to clause 14.4, the landlord or the managing agent will not unreasonably refuse approval.
- 14.4 It is not unreasonable for the landlord or the managing agent to refuse approval if -
  - (a) the Act will then apply, if it did not apply when consent was sought;
  - (b) the permitted use is to change;
  - (c) the tenant has unpaid rent or outgoings;
  - (d) the tenant has not made good a notified default;
  - (e) no, or insufficient, details about the assignee, sub-tenant, licensee or person who will occupy the premise are provided;
  - the landlord or the managing agent is of the reasonable opinion the assignee, sub-tenant, licensee or person who will occupy the premises lacks sufficient means, ability, or business experience to carry on the permitted use or, if it is proposed the permitted use be changed, the permitted use as proposed and comply with the lease, on the basis of information provided;
  - (g) the documents for the assignment, sub-letting, licensing, or parting with occupation are not reasonably acceptable to the landlord, the landlord's managing agent, or Australian legal practitioner or conveyancer;
  - (h) all reasonable costs and expenses incurred by the landlord in relation to or in connection with giving approval have not been paid by the tenant;
  - (i) the tenant, the assignee, sub-tenant, licensee or person taking occupation of the premises has not signed the documents for the transaction, at the time the landlord is to sign the documents;
  - (j) the tenant or a guarantor of the tenant will be released from their obligations on the assignment, sub-lease, licence, or parting with occupation;
  - (k) if the assignee, sub-tenant, licensee or person taking occupation of the premises is required to provide a guarantee and indemnity in favour of the landlord, the guarantee and indemnity is not in a form approved by the landlord's Australian legal practitioner.

# Commercial Lease®



## 15. Reletting, sale and other rights of entry

- 15.1 To allow -
  - (a) the affixing of "For Lease" and "For Sale" / "Auction" signs to the premises, in positions that do not unreasonably interfere with the tenant's business; and also
  - (b) on receiving 24 hours prior written notice, prospective tenants or purchasers, on being accompanied by the landlord or the managing agent, and also valuers, who do not have to be accompanied, to enter and inspect the premises at reasonable times and when doing so to make photographic and video images of the premises; and also
  - (c) on receiving 24 hours prior written notice, except if there is an emergency in which case no prior notice is required, others having a contractual right, under a contract with the landlord or the managing agent, to come on to and remain on the premises from time to time with necessary personnel, plant, equipment and materials for the purposes of attending to the landlord's obligations under this lease or obligations under laws applicable to the premises or the building,

#### 16. Security deposit

- **16.1** Before taking possession of, or being provided with occupation of, the premises and thereafter from time to time during the term or any period of overholding to provide a security deposit in cash or a bank guarantee, as may be required by the landlord, in the amount specified in the Schedule.
- 16.2 A bank guarantee provided as the security deposit will be -
  - in a form reasonably required by the landlord or the managing agent and which does not specify an expiry date;
  - (b) provided by a bank listed by the Australian Prudential Regulation Authority as -
    - (i) an Australian-owned bank; or
    - (ii) a foreign subsidiary bank; and

in either case

- (iii) must have an office at Melbourne at which payment will be made, on presentation of the bank guarantee;
- (c) handed to the landlord or the managing agent as provided in clause 16.1
- 16.3 The landlord or the managing agent will hold the security deposit and may use it if-
  - (a) a payment to be made by the tenant to the landlord is not made within 14 days of the due date for payment;
  - **(b)** a default is not made good as required by notice;
  - (c) the premises are not returned to the landlord in the required condition when this lease or any overholding ends.
- 16.4 The landlord or the managing agent is not required to advise the tenant before using the security deposit.
- **16.5** To maintain the security deposit at the required amount during the term and any over-holding.
- 16.6 If the security deposit is not sufficient to -
  - (a) meet a payment; or
  - (b) make good a default; or
  - (c) put the premises into the required condition

to pay the additional amount required to do so on demand.

- 16.7 Not to fail or refuse to make a payment because it may be met in part or entirely from the security deposit.
- **16.8** If the security deposit is provided in cash, not to permit, allow or acquiesce in a financing statement being registered over it, except by the landlord.

# Commercial Lease®



- 16.9 To provide information, sign documents and do anything else required to allow the landlord to -
  - (a) register a financing statement over the security deposit; or
  - (b) either comply with obligations or enforce rights or both under the PPSA

and even though this lease has expired or come to an end.

- 16.10 Notice of a verification statement under section 157(1) of the PPSA is not required.
- **16.11** If in the reasonable opinion of the landlord or the managing agent the premises are in a clean and tenantable condition at the date on which the tenant vacates and the tenant has otherwise complied with all of the tenant's obligations, the security deposit will be repaid or the bank guarantee returned within 30 days after the date on which the lease ends.

#### 17. Interest

- **17.1** To pay interest on any monies payable to the landlord which are not paid on the due day for payment (monies overdue), if demanded.
- 17.2 The rate of interest will be that fixed from time to time under section 2 of the Penalty Interest Rates Act 1983.
- 17.3 Interest will be calculated and charged on the monies overdue from time to time beginning on the day after the day on which payment is due to and including the day on which the monies overdue are paid in full.

#### 18. Landlord's costs and expenses / stamp duty

- 18.1 To pay, or to repay, on demand: -
  - (a) The landlord's reasonable managing agent's, legal or conveyancer's costs and out-of-pocket expenses incurred in connection with -
    - (i) the negotiation, preparation, settling and signing of this lease;
    - (ii) a default by the tenant;
    - (iii) a request to give or obtain a consent or an approval, whether or not given or obtained;
    - (iv) a variation, surrender or assignment of this lease;
    - (v) a renewal of this lease;
  - (b) Stamp duty (if any) assessed in connection with this lease or a renewal of it.
- 18.2 If the Act applies, the landlord may only recover costs and out-of-pocket expenses as permitted by the Act.

#### The landlord covenants and agrees with the tenant as follows -

#### 19. Quiet enjoyment

- 19.1 If the tenant -
  - (a) pays the rent, outgoings and other expenses payable by the tenant under the terms of this lease when due; and
  - (b) carries out and complies with the tenant's other obligations the tenant may, subject to the rights of entry set out in this lease, occupy and use the premises for the permitted use during the term and any over-holding without interruption by the landlord or a person rightfully claiming through, under, or in trust for the landlord.

#### 20. Access to the premises

The tenant may use in common with others the usual means for entering and leaving the premises, during the term or any over-holding.

#### 21. Insurance

To provide the tenant with details of insurance covers taken out by the landlord in relation to the premises, on receiving written request.

# Commercial Lease®



The landlord and the tenant covenant and agree with each other as follows -

#### 22. Over-holding

- 22.1 If the tenant does not have an option to renew this lease for a further term or if having an option to renew does not exercise it in the required manner, then if at least 3 months before the term expires, unless otherwise agreed in writing -
  - (a) the tenant has not given the landlord written notice of intention to vacate the premises; or
  - (b) The landlord has not given the tenant a written notice requiring possession of the premises on the day after the day on which the term expires -
    - (i) the tenant will be an over-holding tenant; and
    - (ii) on the terms and conditions of this lease, so far as they are applicable to an over-holding monthly tenancy; and
    - (iii) the monthly rent will be the same as that payable when the term expired, unless otherwise agreed; and
    - (iv) the landlord may vary the monthly rent on giving one month's prior written notice; and
    - (v) the landlord or the tenant may end the tenancy at any time by giving three months prior written notice; and
    - (vi) this lease otherwise continues with no break in the tenant's entitlement to possession.

#### 23. Further term

- 23.1 If the tenant may renew this lease for a further term as specified in the Schedule, the tenant may do so if -
  - (a) rent and other payments to be made by the tenant are not in arrears; and
  - (b) there is no un-remedied default of which written notice has been given by the landlord; and
  - (c) there have been no persistent defaults during the term of which written notices have been given by the landlord; and
  - (d) written notice of the renewal dated and signed by the \*tenant is given to the landlord or the managing agent not more than 3 months before and no later than 5:00 pm on the last day to exercise the option set out in the Schedule. (\*if there is more than one tenant, each must sign the notice)
- 23.2 The lease for the further term will be on the terms and conditions of this lease, except -
  - (a) this clause 23 will be omitted, if there is no further term; or
  - (b) if there is a further term(s) remaining, the lease will be altered to omit the renewed further term;
  - (c) if the rent for the further term is to be agreed and there is no agreement within 30 days before the commencement date of the further term then unless before the 30 days ends some other period of time has been agreed for concluding an agreement about the rent the rent for the further term will be determined as set out in clause 24.2.

#### 23.3

- (a) This clause 23.3 applies where:
  - (i) before its renewal, the lease was a retail premises under the Act; and
  - (ii) the renewed lease for the further term is not a retail premises lease under the Act.
- (b) If this clause 23.3 applies, then on and from the commencing date of the renewed lease for the further term, a provision of the lease that was:
  - (i) made void by the Act is revived in the renewed lease for the further term and can be enforced by the parties;
  - (ii) implied into the lease by the Act ceases to be implied into the renewed lease for the further term and cannot be enforced by the parties.



#### 24. Review of the rent to market

- 24.1 The rent -
  - (a) then payable on the terms of this lease; or
  - (b) the rent as agreed or determined for the then current further term

will be reviewed to the current market rent of the premises (the rent) on each market review date specified in the Schedule.

- 24.2 If the Act does not apply and the rent for a further term has not been agreed as provided in clause 23.2 (c) or within 60 days after a market review date, the rent will then be determined, as follows -
  - (a) the landlord or the tenant or both may apply to the REIV for the appointment of a valuer to determine the rent;
  - (b) the landlord and the tenant will co-operate with one another and with the REIV and do all things required by the REIV so the appointment of a valuer can be made with a minimum of delay;
  - (c) the landlord and the tenant will each pay fifty percent (50%) of the fees and expenses of the REIV in making the appointment and of the valuer in determining the rent, unless other percentages are agreed in writing. If either of them neglects or refuses to pay their share, or a part of it, the other may do so on their behalf and recover the payment on the basis of an account stated;
  - (d) the valuer will determine the rent as an expert, on formally accepting the appointment;
  - (e) in determining the rent the valuer will not take into account improvements, fixtures and fittings -
    - (i) paid for by the tenant; and
    - (ii) installed by or for the tenant in connection with the permitted use, with the landlord's consent; and
    - (iii) that the tenant has the right to remove when this lease ends

unless the landlord and the tenant agree otherwise in writing.

- (f) the landlord and the tenant will co-operate with one another and with the valuer in providing access to the premises and to documents and information in their possession or under their control which the valuer considers relevant to the review;
- (g) subject to sub-clause (d), the valuer will provide the landlord and the tenant with a written determination within a reasonable time;
- (h) the determination must have reasons and set out matters taken into account in the making of it;
- (i) the determination will be final and binding on the landlord and the tenant;
- (j) if the rent has not been agreed or determined by a review date, the tenant will continue to pay the rent then current:
- (k) On the next day for payment of rent following the rent being agreed or the valuer's determination being provided any adjustment required will be made.

# Commercial Lease®



#### 25. CPI adjustment of the rent

25.1 On each date specified in the Schedule (adjustment date) the rent will be adjusted in line with movements in the CPI using the formula -

R equals A multiplied by B divided by C

Where -

"R" is the adjusted rent payable from the adjustment date;

"A" is the rent payable immediately before the adjustment date;

"B" is the CPI for the quarter ended immediately before the adjustment date;

"C" is the CPI for the quarter ended immediately before the previous adjustment date or if there is no previous adjustment date, immediately before the commencement date.

- 25.2 If the CPI for the quarter ended immediately before the adjustment date is not published until after the adjustment date, the adjustment will be made as soon as possible following publication, with the adjustment taking effect on and from the adjustment date. Pending the adjustment, the tenant must continue to pay the rent then current. On the next date for payment of rent following the adjustment, any under payment or over payment will be paid or credited respectively, as the circumstances require.
- 25.3 If the base of the CPI is changed between the commencement date and the first adjustment date or between the adjustment dates any necessary alterations must be made to preserve the continuity of the calculations.
- 25.4 If the ABS ceases to publish the CPI the adjustment will be made using the index or other publication substituted for it, any changes being made to preserve the continuity of the calculations. If no index or publication is substituted, the landlord and tenant will agree on an alternative index or publication within 14 days of the adjustment date. If there is no agreement, either the landlord or the tenant or both will request the President of the REIV or his or her nominee (acting as an expert) to determine an appropriate index or publication which reflects changes in the cost of living at Melbourne. The determination will be final and binding.

#### 26. Fixed rent increases

- **26.1** On each rent increase date specified in the Schedule the annual rent then payable will be increased by the stated percentage or amount.
- 26.2 On the next day for payment of rent following the rent being increased, the required adjustment will be made.

#### 27. Damage to and destruction of the premises

- 27.1 If during the term or a period of over holding -
  - (a) the premises or a part of the premises are totally or partly damaged or destroyed by any cause so as to be unfit for use and occupation by the tenant; and
  - (b) the event causing the damage or destruction was not caused or contributed to by the default of the tenant; and
  - (c) any policy of insurance effected by the landlord has not been vitiated or payment or renewal refused as a result of an act, neglect, or default of the tenant -

then the rent and outgoings - or a fair and reasonable proportion having regard to the nature and extent of the damage or destruction or to any interference with the permitted use of premises by the tenant - will be suspended or cease to be payable, so long as the premises are unfit for occupation and use.

27.2 If there is a dispute about the proportion or the period of abatement the landlord and the tenant agree it will be referred to arbitration under the Commercial Arbitration Act 2011 and abatement will be in full satisfaction of all claims for damages by the tenant against the landlord.

# Commercial Lease®



27.3 Notwithstanding clause 27.2, if the premises are totally or substantially destroyed and not re-instated within 3 months from the date on which the destruction occurred the landlord or the tenant may by written notice elect to end this lease and from the date of the giving of the notice all claims under this lease, except for those which have arisen before that date, will be at an end.

#### 28. Cessation of building services

Except in the case of voluntary withdrawal by the landlord or provided by the Act (if applicable), no damages, compensation or abatement of the rent will be claimed by the tenant or allowed by the landlord for the cessation of, damage to, or the failure or breakdown of any services provided in or to the building. "Services" include, but are not limited to, electricity, gas, water, sprinklers, alarms, pumps, air conditioning, heating, cooling or ventilation equipment, hot water service, cleaning, lifts or escalators.

#### 29. Personal Property Securities Act 2009 (PPSA)

- 29.1 The landlord and the tenant agree this lease is a security interest for the purposes of the PPSA.
- 29.2 The tenant will not register or allow or acquiesce in the registration of financing statement by any person, with the exception of the landlord, for goods provided by the landlord at or in connection with the premises.
- 29.3 The landlord may register a financing statement for a security interest arising because of this lease over goods provided by the landlord at or in connection with the premises, or the tenant's fixtures, fittings and/or goods not removed from the premises when this lease ends that are personal property.
- 29.4 The tenant waives the right to receive a notice in relation to registration events to which section 157(1)(a) of the PPSA applies.
- **29.5** The landlord and the tenant agree they will not disclose information in the nature of that referred to in section 275 (1) of the PPSA.
- 29.6 When this lease ends and the tenant has vacated the premises and returned them to the landlord in the condition required by this lease (or as may be otherwise agreed in writing), or on an assignment in accordance with the terms of this lease the landlord will register a financing change statement for a security interest of the landlord, with the exception of a security interest registered for goods provided by the landlord at or in connection with the premises.
- 29.7 The tenant will sign all documents and do all things necessary to allow the landlord to register a financing statement and enforce its rights and meet its obligations under the PPSA and this clause. If the tenant is an individual, the tenant will provide his or her date of birth and a certified copy of his or her current driver's licence or birth certificate in confirmation. The landlord will not use the certified copy for any other purpose and will return it to the tenant on request.
- 29.8 The tenant will pay on demand the landlord's reasonable costs and expenses incurred in relation to or in connection with matters referred to in this clause.

#### 30. Indemnity by the tenant

The landlord will not be liable for any damage or injury to the premises or to the tenant or the tenant's property or to the property of the tenant's employees, contractors, agents, licensees or invitees as a result of any happening not attributable to the negligence of the landlord. To the extent permitted by law, the tenant indemnifies and agrees to keep the landlord indemnified in respect of and in connection with all claims, liabilities, actions, suits, demands, judgements or costs arising from or related to such damage or injury arising out of or in connection with the tenant's use of the premises.

# Commercial Lease®



#### 31. Notices

- 31.1 A notice to be given by the landlord or the tenant is to be in writing and is to be dated and signed by the giver of it.
- 31.2 A notice is given to the party to whom it is addressed (recipient) by -
  - (a) delivering it; or
  - (b) posting it by pre-paid post; or
  - (c) sending it by electronic communication (email)

to the address or to the email address (as the case requires) of the recipient, set out in the Schedule or to the party's last known address or email address provided in writing, or to the party's registered office.

- 31.3 A notice that is delivered is given on delivery. But if delivery takes place outside normal business hours the notice is deemed given at 9:00 am on the next business day at the place of delivery.
- 31.4 A notice that is posted is given -
  - (a) if posted by express post, on the next business day; or
  - (b) if posted by priority post, on the fourth business day; or
  - (c) if posted by regular post, on the sixth business day

after the day on which the notice is posted.

- **31.5** A notice sent by email is given when it first becomes capable of being retrieved as provided in section 13A (2) of the Electronic Transactions (Victoria) Act 2000. If that occurs outside normal business hours the notice is deemed given at 9:00 am on the next business day.
- 31.6 For the purpose of giving a notice -
  - (a) "normal business hours" means between the hours of 9:00 am and 5:00 pm inclusive on a business day; and
  - (b) "business day" means a day other than Saturday, Sunday or a day declared as a public holiday at the street address of the recipient set out in the Schedule.

#### 32. Electronic Transactions (Victoria) Act 2000 (ETVA)

- **32.1** For the purposes of Part 2, Division 2, section 8 of the ETVA the landlord and the tenant acknowledge it is reasonable to expect that information or a notice or both to be given by either of them to the other by means of an electronic communication will be readily accessible so as to be useable for subsequent reference and consent to information or a notice or both being given to them by means of an electronic communication.
- **32.2** For the purpose of the giving of a notice which requires a signature and will be given in the body of or as an attachment to an email, the signature of the person to the notice will be a sufficient signature if typed in a legible font.

#### 33. Rules

- **33.1** The landlord or the managing agent on behalf of the landlord may make rules or regulations or both for the management, use, or occupation of the building, including the rules of any owners corporation affecting the premises, but such rules or regulations must not be inconsistent with the rights of the tenant as set out in this lease or the Act, if the Act applies.
- 33.2 The landlord or the managing agent on behalf of the landlord may revoke or alter rules or regulations or substitute other rules or regulations for those then current from time to time and the tenant will be bound by a change when it receives notice of it.
- 33.3 The tenant must at all times comply with the rules or regulations of the building and rules of an owners corporation (if-aplicable), whether original, altered or substituted, starting on the date of being given notice of them.



#### 34. Defaults by the tenant

- 34.1 The landlord may terminate this lease by re-entry or forfeiture if the tenant fails to remedy a breach of this lease within 14 days after being given a notice complying with section 146(1) of the Property Law Act 1958, but no notice is required before re-entry or forfeiture in the case of non-payment of rent.
- 34.2 The tenant is in breach of this lease if -
  - (a) the rent or outgoings or both are not paid on the due dates for payment although no legal or formal demand has been made; or
  - (b) the tenant otherwise fails to observe and perform the covenants on its part to be observed and performed;
  - (c) being a company -
    - (i) an order is made or a resolution passed for its winding-up, other than for the purposes of reconstruction or amalgamation; or
    - (ii) a provisional receiver, receiver, or receiver and manager is appointed; or
    - (iii) it is placed under official management; or
    - (iv) it goes into liquidation; or
    - (v) control of the company changes, without the prior written consent of the landlord, unless the tenant is a company listed on an Australian stock exchange in which case consent is not required;
  - (d) the tenant fails to satisfy a judgement entered against it within the time specified in the judgement to do so;
  - (e) the tenant being an individual commits an act of bankruptcy;
  - (f) a guarantor of the tenant who is an individual commits an act of bankruptcy or, if the guarantor is a company, any of the matters set out in clause 34.2 (c) occurs.
  - (g) the tenant ceases to use premises for the permitted use or permits or acquiesces in the premises ceasing to be used for the permitted use;
  - (h) the premises are unoccupied for a period exceeding 14 days during the term or a period of over holding.
- **34.3** If the landlord terminates this lease, the landlord may sue the tenant for unpaid monies or damages or both, including for damages representing the benefit of this lease receivable if the term had continued and expired by the passing of time.

#### 35. Repudiation of this lease by the tenant

Clauses 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 9, 12, 14 and 16 are essential provisions of this lease. If the tenant breaches an essential provision it is a repudiation which the landlord may accept. If the landlord does not accept a repudiation of an essential provision it does not prevent the landlord accepting a subsequent repudiation of the same or another essential provision.

#### 36. Disputes

- 36.1 A dispute must be resolved in accordance with Part 10 of the Act, if the Act applies.
- **36.2** A party to a retail tenancy dispute may be represented by a legal practitioner or practitioners of their choice, unless the dispute is one to which clause 36.3 applies.
- 36.3 A dispute between the tenant and another tenant or occupier of the Building about the use of the premises or the Building must be promptly referred by the tenant to the landlord or the landlord's managing agent for determination. Unless the Act applies, the determination of the landlord or the landlord's managing agent will be binding and the tenants or occupiers have no right to legal representation.
- 36.4 In determining a dispute under clause 36.3, the landlord or the managing agent is not required to strictly comply with the rules of natural justice and the laws or rules of evidence do not apply and they may inform themselves as they see fit with the intent the dispute will be determined in a reasonable manner as speedily, informally, and inexpensively as possible.

# Commercial Lease®



#### 37. Goods and Services Tax

- **37.1** "GST" means GST within the meaning of the A New Tax System (Goods and Services Tax) Act 1999 as amended (GST Act).
- 37.2 Expressions used in this clause 37 and the GST Act have the same meaning as in the GST Act.
- 37.3 Except where this Lease states otherwise, each amount payable by a party under this Lease in respect of a taxable supply by the other party is expressed as a GST exclusive amount and the recipient of the supply must, in addition to that amount and at the same time, pay to the supplier the GST payable in respect of the supply.
- **37.4** An amount payable by the tenant in respect of a creditable acquisition by the landlord from a third party must not exceed the sum of the value of the landlord's acquisition and the additional amount payable by the tenant under clause 37.3 on account of the landlord's GST liability.
- **37.5** A party is not obliged, under clause 37.3, to pay GST on a taxable supply to it under this Lease, until given a valid tax invoice for the supply.
- 37.6 If during the term or period of over holding the landlord registers, or is required to be registered, for GST under the GST Act, then on and from the date the landlord registers, or is required to be registered, for GST under the GST Act clauses 37.3, 37.4 and 37.5 will apply to each amount payable by a party under this lease in respect of a taxable supply by the other party or an amount payable by the tenant in respect of a creditable acquisition.

#### 38. Delivery of Guarantee and Idemnity

If a guarantor is named in the Schedule, the tenant must on the same date as the execution of this lease procure execution by the guarantor of a guarantee and indemnity and deliver the executed guarantee and indemnity to the landlord. If the landlord elects, this lease will not take effect until the guarantee and indemnity has been properly executed by the guarantor and delivered to the landlord.

#### 39. Definitions and interpretation

39.1. In this Lease, unless otherwise required by the context or subject matter -

"ABS" means the Australian Bureau of Statistics or its successors.

"acquiesce in" / "acquiesced in" means the tenant has failed to take reasonable measures which, if taken, would have prevented the act, matter or thing which led to a breach of the tenant's obligations under this lease.

"Act" means the Retail Leases Act 2003.

"act of bankruptcy" has the meaning given in section 40 of the Bankruptcy Act 1966.

"bank guarantee" means a guarantee by an authorised deposit taking institution under the Banking Act 1959.

"building" means the building of which the premises forms a part.

"control" has the meaning given in section 50AA of the Corporations Act 2001.

"court" includes a tribunal.

"CPI" means the Consumer Price Index, Australia All Groups Index numbers for Melbourne as published by the ABS.

"electronic communication" has the meaning given in section 3 of the Electronic Transactions (Victoria) Act 2000.

"essential safety measure" has the meaning given in the Act.

"guarantor" means the individual or corporation or one or more of them referred to in the Schedule;

"guarantee and indemnity" means the REIV's standard guarantee and indemnity Code 142 or a guarantee and indemnity in a similar form.

"information" when used in relation to an electronic communication has the meaning given in section 3 of the Electronic Transactions (Victoria) Act 2000.

# Commercial Lease®



"landlord" means the individual or corporation or incorporated association or one or more of them referred to in the Schedule and includes the assignees, executors, administrators, or successors of the landlord and the reversioner immediately expectant on the Term.

"PPSA" means the Personal Property Securities Act 2009.

"REIV" means The Real Estate Institute of Victoria Ltd ACN 004 201 897 or its successors.

"sian" includes advertisement.

"tenant" means the individual or corporation or incorporated association or one or more of them referred to in the Schedule and includes the executor, administrator, and permitted assignee of the tenant and where the context permits includes an employee, agent, contractor, licensee, or invitee of the tenant.

"then applicable Australian Standard" means that published by Standards Australia Limited ACN 087 326 690 or its successors.

"writing" includes all modes of representing or reproducing words, figures, or symbols in a visible form and expressions referring to writing are to be read accordingly.

- **39.2.** If the landlord or the tenant or both comprise two or more individuals or corporations or incorporated associations the covenants and obligations their part apply to them jointly and to each of them individually.
- **39.3.** No waiver by the landlord or the tenant of a breach of the terms of this lease by the other will operate as a waiver of another breach of the same or of another term, condition, or covenant.
- **39.4.** References to an Act includes a reference to orders, declarations, ordinances, regulations, rules, by-laws, or guidelines made under it and to all amendments, modifications, re-enactments, consolidations, or replacements.
- **39.5.** The singular includes the plural and vice versa.
- 39.6. The masculine gender includes the female and neuter genders.
- 39.7. If it is necessary to determine priority between the provisions of this lease, the priority is -
- the content, if any, of the Special Conditions Schedule; then
- the content of the Schedule; then
- the respective covenants of the landlord and the tenant.
- **39.8.** This lease is governed by the laws of Victoria and each party irrevocably submits to the non-exclusive jurisdiction of the courts of Victoria.
- **39.9.** This Lease is to be interpreted so it does not infringe Acts of the Commonwealth or Victorian Parliaments or any subordinate legislation made under them. If a provision does infringe, it will be read down, but only to the extent necessary, so it does not infringe and will otherwise remain operative, so far as possible in the circumstances. If it cannot be read down, it will be disregarded. If a provision is disregarded or held invalid by a court, the remainder of this Lease will continue in force.

# Commercial Lease Schedule®



The Real Estate Institute of Victoria Ltd | ACN 004 210 897 | www.reiv.com.au |

#### **ABOUT THIS SCHEDULE**

This is a standard form document which forms part of the REIV copyright Commercial Lease (Code 143). The printed, standard wording may need to be altered when completing the Schedule to record a lease, as negotiated. **Alterations to the printed, standard wording should be recorded in the Special Conditions Schedule not by making changes to the Schedule itself.** Depending on circumstances, it may be prudent to obtain professional help when completing this Schedule. Ensure the completed Schedule is attached to each part of the lease, at the time the lease is signed.

#### Landlord advice to the tenant

The landlord advises the tenant this Schedule is in the copyright format published by The Real Estate Institute of Victoria Ltd as at the date printed/version at the foot of the first page, unless there are alterations or additions or both which appear in the Special Conditions Schedule. The tenant is advised to check the Special Conditions Schedule, before signing this lease.

Date of this	s Lease:// 20		
Landlord:			
Cont	act Person:		
Addr	ress: C/- RE Appleby Pty Ltd, 20 Station Stre Bayswater VIC	et, Postcode: 3153	
ACN	·	ABN:	
Phor	ne:	Mobile:	
Fax:		Email:	
1			
Tenant:			
Cont	act Person:		
Addr	ress:	Postcode:	
ACN	:	ABN:	
Phor	ne:	Mobile:	
Fax:		Email:	<del></del>
	Agent: R E Appleby Pty Ltd T/AS Appleby Rea		
	aging Agent:		
	ress: 20 Station Street, Bayswater VIC	Postcode: 3153	
ACN		ABN: <b>44 004 648 542</b>	
	ne: <b>03 8727 9555</b>	Mobile:	
Fax:		Email: info@appleby.com	ı.au
Premises*:			
(*attach plan to	o each part of this lease, if applicable)		
Term:			
Commence	ement date of the term:// 20		
Landlord's	fixtures and fittings (CI 5.1(a)):		

# Commercial Lease Schedule®



(*if insufficient space, attach extra page(s))
Further term(s) (Cl 23):
Last date to exercise option to renew for the next further term (Cl 23.1 (d)):// 20
Commencement date of the next further term (CI 23):
Commencing rent* (Cl 1): \$Per Annum** / Per Calendar month**
*the rent is exclusive of GST unless "GST inclusive" or "GST is not payable on the rent" appears in the box:
GST exclusive
Rent commencement date (Cl 1):/ 20
Landlord's loss of rent and outgoings insurance period (CI 2.1 (h)):months.
Landlord's public liability insurance cover (Cl 2.1 (h)): \$
Outgoings excluded (Cl 2.1):
Outgoings, manner of apportionment (Cl 2.3):
The proportion that the lettable area of the premises bears to the lettable area of the building (CI 2.4(a)):
Building operating expenses, apportionment (CI 3.2(a)):
Permitted use (CI 12.2):
Security deposit(Cl.16.1): of *\$er *equivalent tomonths rent plus GST.  (*complete the one required and delete the other)
the security deposit will be provided in cash, unless "bank guarantee" appears in the box:
the security deposit will be provided in cash, driless bank guarantee appears in the box.
Market rent review dates (CI 24.1):
CPI adjustment of rent dates (CI 25.1):
Fixed rent increases percentage or amount (CI 26.1):
Fixed rent increases dates (CI 26.1):

# Commercial Lease Schedule®



Executed as a deed and if by a corporation, in the manner referred to in section 127 of the Corporations Act 2001.

Signed sealed and delivered by the landlord	
Director Name:	Director sign here
Director/Company Secretary Name:	Director/Company Secretary sign here
in the presence of Witness Name:	Witness sign here
Signed sealed and delivered by the tenant	
Director Name:	Director sign here
Director/Company Secretary Name:	Director/Company Secretary sign here
in the presence of Witness Name:	Witness sign here

#### Code 144A

# 



The Real Estate Institute of Victoria Ltd | ACN 004 210 897 | www.reiv.com.au |

#### **ABOUT THIS SCHEDULE**

The REIV copyright Commercial Lease Special Conditions Schedule Code 144a is for use with the REIV copyright Commercial Lease Code 143 and REIV copyright Commercial Lease Schedule Code 144, if alterations or additions are to be made to the Code 143 or Code 144 documents. Ensure the completed Schedule is attached to each part of the lease, at the time the lease is signed.

Use this Schedule to record -

- changes to the wording of the numbered clauses of the REIV Copyright Commercial Lease Code 143; and
- matters agreed by the landlord and the tenant in addition to the terms and conditions of the REIV Copyright Commercial Lease Code 143; and
- · changes to the printed, standard wording of the REIV Copyright Commercial Lease Schedule Code 144; and
- other matters which, because of lack of space, or for some other reason, cannot be properly recorded in the Schedule.

#### [Number the special conditions consecutively, starting at 1]

· attach additional pages, if required.

#### **SPECIAL CONDITIONS**

#### 1. Use of Premises:

The Lessor consents to the Premises being used for the Use specified in Clause 12.2 of the Lesse. The Lessee agrees to obtain any necessary permits for the Use and comply with all zoning requirements and restrictions.

#### 2. Cleaning Premises:

The Lessee shall be responsible for the cleanliness of the Premises and undertakes:

- (a) to remove all rubbish and scrap material from inside and outside the Premises on a regular basis;
- (b) where applicable, keep any land at the rear and side of the Premises and any gardens clear of rubbish, weeds and blackberries:
- (c) to keep the Premises clear of all pests and vermin.

#### 3. Entire Agreement:

This document embodies the entire understanding and the whole agreement between the parties. No other party can rely on any warranty, statement or representation regarding the conditions on which this Lease has been agreed, the provisions of this Lease or the Premises which is not contained in this Lease or the Disclosure Statement (if any) provided with this Lease.

#### 4. Obligations at Expiry:

If the Lessee does not wish to renew (whether by exercising an option to renew the Lease or by agreement) and intends to vacate the Premises at the expiration of the Term, the Lessee must serve upon the Lessor a notice, in writing, of its intention to vacate the Premises at the expiration of the Term no later than three months prior to the said expiration of the Term.

The Lessee agrees that the Lessee will continue to be liable to pay Rent for the Premises until the Lessee removes all of the Lessee's property from the Premises, returns the keys to the Lessor's or its agent's office and otherwise reinstates the Premises as required by this Lease and to the Lessor's or its agent's reasonable satisfaction.

### 5. Electrical Certificate

Prior to vacating the Premises the Lessee shall obtain and provide to the Lessor, at the Lessee's own cost and expense, a certificate from a qualified electrician (full particulars of qualifications to appear on the certificate) which indicates the electrical switchboard and the wiring in the Premises are in approved and safe operating condition.

#### 6. Occupational Health and Safety:

The Lessee acknowledges and agrees:

- (a) that it has management and control of the Premises for the purposes of the Occupational Health and Safety Act 2004 (Vic), as amended from time to time ("the OH&S Act");
- (b) it must give written notice to the Lessor as soon as possible after the Lessee becomes aware of any potential or actual issue in relation to occupational health and safety or the OH&S Act; and
- (c) to indemnify and keep the Lessor indemnified in respect of all claims, actions, suits, demands, judgements or costs made or incurred by the Lessor in relation to occupational health and safety or the OH&S Act arising from the occupation of the Premises by the Lessee.

## 7. Essential Safety Measures:

- (a) For the purposes of this special condition the expression "essential safety measures" shall include air-conditioning systems, and fire services such as sprinklers, mechanical devices, fire doors, fire rates structures, other building infrastructure items, such as paths of exit, and all other safety equipment, safety fittings and safety measures in the Premises and/or the Building including essential services and essential safety measures as defined in any regulations made under the *Building Act 1993 (Vic)*, as amended from time to time.
- (b) The Lessee agrees to pay or reimburse to the lessor during the Term or any Further Term:
  - (i) all costs and expenses paid or incurred by the Lessor in inspecting, auditing and maintaining the essential safety measures;
  - (ii) all costs and expenses of supplying, maintaining, servicing, repairing, monitoring and testing all the essential safety measures installed in the Building and attending fire alarms.
- (c) The Lessee agrees to permit the Lessor and/or the Lessor's employees, agents, consultants and contractors to enter and inspect the Premises and/or the Building for the purposes of inspecting auditing and maintaining the essential safety measures.
- (d) The Lessee agrees to observe and comply with all laws that relate to the Premises and/or the Building including but not limited to any applicable Building laws, including the *Building Act 1993 (Vic)* and any regulations made under the *Building Act 1993 (Vic)*, as amended from time to time, and any other legislation or laws relating to the essential safety measures.
- (e) The Lessee agrees to indemnify the Lessor and keep the Lessor indemnified in respect of all claims, actions, suits, demands, judgements or costs arising from:
  - (i) any breach of this special condition 7; and
  - (ii) any structural alterations, additions and/or repairs to the Premises performed by the Lessee or on behalf of the Lessee with or without the prior written consent of the Lessor.

#### 8. Market and Rent Review

In addition to Clause 24.1, the parties agree that the rent to be determined at any rent review shall not be less than the rent payable immediately prior to the relevant review date (unless the "Act" applies).

#### 9. Rent Free Period

- (a) Subject to this special condition, the Lessee will not be liable for rent for the period stipulated in the Commercial Lease Schedule.
- (b) However, if the Lessee is in breach or commits a default of the Lease at any time during the term, and fails to remedy the breach/default within Fourteen (14) days after receiving written notice, then this special condition will not apply and the Lessee must pay to the Lessor upon written demand the rental for the period described in paragraph (a).

#### 10. Air-conditioning:

If any air-conditioning plant exclusively services the Premises, the Lessee must, irrespective of who owns the air-conditioning plant comply with all laws and legal requirements regarding the installation, removal, maintenance, repair, operation and testing of the air-conditioning plant and provide to the Lessor any evidence reasonably required by the Lessor that shows that the Lessee has satisfied all relevant laws and legal requirements. For the purposes of this clause, the term "air-conditioning plant" shall mean any plant and machinery, duct work, vents, electrical installations or equipment for heating, cooling or circulating air.

#### 11.1 Tenants Works

The Tenant agrees to obtain the Landlords prior written approval before undertaking works of any nature.

- (a) Before commencing the Tenant's Works, the Tenant must, at its cost, apply for and obtain any approval or consent required by law or an Authority ("Approvals") relating to the Tenant's Works as quickly as reasonably practicable.
- (b) The Tenant must, at its cost, ensure that the Tenant's Works are carried out:
  - (i) promptly;
  - (ii) in accordance with best practice;
  - (iii) in accordance with the Approvals and terms of this lease
  - (iv) using new, good quality materials
  - (v) by contractors who:
    - (A) possess appropriate qualifications; and
    - (B) maintain insurance cover that complies with special provision 9.1(g);
  - (vi) without disturbance or disruption to other tenants or occupiers of the Building.
- (c) The Tenant must not commence the Tenant's Works until the Tenant has delivered to the Landlord (2 parts) of this lease duly executed by the Tenant and the Guarantor (if any) together with the Bank Guarantee or Bond required by (clause 16.1) and confirmation of the Insurances (required by clause 4) and special provision 9.1(h).
- (d) The Tenant must protect the Building from damage due to the Tenant's Works and, if any damage to the Building is caused directly or indirectly by the Tenant's Works, either:
  - (i) promptly repair and make good the damage to the Landlord's satisfaction; or
  - (ii) pay or reimburse the Landlord on demand for any costs and expenses incurred by the Landlord relating to the making good of the damage, at the Landlord's election.
- (e) The Tenant must:
  - (i) accept full responsibility for the conduct and safety of the tenant's Agents;
  - comply on time with the law and with the requirement of all Authorities (including each Owners Corporation for the Building);
  - (iii) remove from the Premises on a regular basis all rubbish and debris resulting from the Tenant's Works.
  - (iv) immediately after the completion of the Tenant's Works remove all rubbish and debris and clean the areas affected by the works;
  - (v) comply with the Landlord's reasonable requirements and directions from time to time relating to delivery to, and removal from, the Premises of goods, rubbish and debris; and
  - (vi) ensure that the Tenant's Works are carried out in compliance with the Occupational Health and Safety Act 2004. The Tenant accepts appointment in relation to the Tenant's Works as principal contactor for the purposes of Part 5.1 of the Regulations made under the Act.
- (f) The Landlord may exclude from the Building or the Premises any person who fails to comply with the reasonable directions of the Landlord or the Landlord's Agents, including reasonable safety and other site requirements, rules and procedures.
- (g) The Tenant and the Tenant's contractors and sub-contractors must have at all times the following insurance cover relating to the Tenant's Works;
  - public liability insurance that complies with this lease but endorsed to extend to liability for interference with the quiet enjoyment of the other occupiers of the Building in the form of dust, noise or obstruction and other circumstances arising out of the Tenant's Works;
- (ii) contractors' all risk insurance for the total value of the Tenant's Works; and
- (iii) any other insurance cover required by law.

- (h) For each insurance cover required to be taken out, the Tenant must give the Landlord:
  - (i) a copy of that policy
  - (ii) the receipt for the last premium, and
  - (iii) a certificate or currency, whenever requested.

#### 11.2 Landlord not liable

The Landlord is not liable to the Tenant if the Tenant's Works fail to receive any necessary approval.

#### 11.3 Status of Tenant's occupancy before the Commencement Date

If the Landlord allows the Tenant to occupy the Premises (including a part of the Premises) before the Commencement Date, the Tenant will be a licensee of the Landlord on the terms of this lease as if the Term had commenced.

#### 11.4 Deliver up the Premises

If the Tenant has installed a penetration in the roof or wall, they hereby agree at the end of or earlier determination of the lease, the Tenant must, at its cost, reinstate any penetration replacing whole roof sheets of the Premises that have been penetrated or repairing any wall penetration to ensure they comply with all regulations. The Tenant must, in complying with its obligations under this special provision 9.4, comply with special provision 9.1 of this lease.





# Retail leases: important facts for tenants

We're here for small business

## **RETAIL LEASES**

#### What you need to know

A landlord must provide this information brochure and a copy of the proposed lease to a person as soon as they enter into lease negotiations with that person. Failure to do this is an offence under section 15 of the *Retail Leases Act 2003* (the Act).

#### The importance of your lease

It's important to understand your rights and responsibilities under your lease and the Act.

A lease is an important, enforceable and legally binding document, so it's a good idea to get advice from a lawyer experienced in leasing law before you sign anything.

#### **CHECKLIST**

- ☐ Have you read the lease in full?
- □ Have you read the disclosure statement, which the landlord must give you at least 14 days before you enter into the lease?
- □ Do you know you are entitled to a minimum five-year lease (including any option for a further lease term) unless you choose to accept a lesser term? To do this, you need to apply for a certificate at <a href="https://www.vsbc.vic.gov.au/your-rights-and-responsibilities/five-year-waiver-certificates/">https://www.vsbc.vic.gov.au/your-rights-and-responsibilities/five-year-waiver-certificates/</a>.

- ☐ How much is the **rent** and how can it be **increased**? \$.....
- □ How much is the **security deposit** / **bank guarantee**? \$.....
- □ What other costs do you need to pay (including any fit-out costs)?
  \$......
- ☐ What is the due date for writing to the landlord to take up any option to **renew** the lease (i.e. further lease term)? ...../....../....../
- Have you completed an inspection report and taken photos of the premises?
- Do you need any council or other permits to run your business?
- □ Have you considered getting legal advice?





## FREQUENTLY ASKED QUESTIONS

#### When does a lease start?

A lease starts when you take possession of the premises **or** you start paying rent **or** the lease is signed by both you and the landlord.

You shouldn't do any of these things unless you are happy to go ahead with the lease.

# Which documents should I be given before entering a lease?

The landlord must give you a disclosure statement and the proposed lease at least 14 days before entering into a lease.

A disclosure statement contains information you need to know to make an informed decision about entering into a lease, including details about:

- the premises, including a plan if available, and the lettable area
- structures, fixtures, plant and equipment provided by the landlord
- the permitted use
- the term of the lease and length of any options to renew
- works, fit-out, refurbishment and alterations
- outgoings (costs you must pay), rent and rent adjustments.

If the landlord doesn't give you a disclosure statement you may be able to withhold rent after notifying the landlord.

# What do I need to make sure I understand before signing?

It's important to understand:

- the starting rent and rent increases
- outgoings and other occupancy costs
- the permitted use of the premises and how long it will take to get any permits
- your obligation to restore the premises to the original state at the end of the lease.

#### What does the Act require landlords to do?

It requires landlords to:

- give you a copy of the lease within 28 days of signing
- repair and maintain the premises, structure, appliances, fittings and fixtures provided under the lease (except if you have agreed to maintain essential safety measures)
- provide annual estimates of outgoings (if these aren't provided, you don't have to pay outgoings) and reconciliation statements
- hold a security deposit in an interest-bearing account
- pay for capital costs, cost of preparing the lease and costs of complying with the Act
- give reminder notices about lease options and renewals (if these notices aren't given, your lease can be extended automatically)
- not unreasonably withhold consent to transfer (assign) your lease (the Act includes requirements if you want to transfer your lease to a new tenant).

These requirements automatically form part of your lease and can't be overridden, even if your lease states otherwise.

#### **HOW WE CAN HELP**

The Victorian Small Business Commission provides guidance on the Retail Leases Act 2003 and a low-cost dispute resolution service for resolving disputes between landlords, tenants and guarantors.

Where a landlord and tenant have a dispute about a market rent increase and can't agree on their own valuer, we can appoint a specialist retail valuer to determine the rent.



Website vsbc.vic.gov.au



enquiries@vsbc.vic.gov.au



**Phone** 13 8722







